# A guide to what works for mental wellbeing

Beyond Blue

An evidence review of interventions



#### **Foreword**

Beyond Blue is proud to deliver A Guide to What Works for Mental Wellbeing, an evidence review of interventions that can help improve a person's mental wellbeing.

Beyond Blue's role is to work with the community to improve mental health and make it easier for people to feel better earlier, get well and stay well.

This guide responds to recent community insights that show people want clearer, trusted advice on how to take action to improve their mental wellbeing. This guide can be used by services and supports to build mental wellbeing as an important part of improving mental health.

Mental wellbeing includes positive aspects of how people feel, function, and reflect on their lives, including experiencing positive emotions, connection and a sense of meaning and purpose. All people can experience mental wellbeing, which is associated with a range of positive benefits. This includes improved learning, creativity and productivity, more pro-social behaviour, better relationships, and improved physical health and life expectancy.

High levels of mental wellbeing are also associated with lower rates of mental health conditions, so working on our mental wellbeing can help people prevent or manage mental health conditions. There are many people who live with mental health conditions and have developed strong mental wellbeing, which helps them live meaningful and contributing lives. There are also people who have low mental wellbeing but do not meet the criteria for a mental health condition. This is referred to as *languishing*, which can increase the risk of developing a mental health condition in the future if left unaddressed.

That's where this evidence review can help. Developed by the South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute (SAHMRI), this guide spotlights more than 20 interventions that have strong evidence for improving a person's mental wellbeing. It provides useful explanation of current research to encourage wider use of mental wellbeing interventions. The guide has been designed for people seeking reliable information based on a high standard of evidence, to inform future research, and for practitioners working in a variety of fields including in health, mental health, community wellbeing and program design. The targeted focus of this review on published, peer-reviewed intervention studies complements other knowledge sources, such as reports in the grey literature, to help inform decision making in policy and practice.

We also encourage people to explore our Wellbeing Action Tool, a free, user-friendly, and practical tool to help people take action to improve their mental wellbeing. This tool complements the great work of others in the sector and offers unique value due to its focus on encouraging personal, meaningful wellbeing actions underpinned by community and lived-experience co-design.

This approach to mental wellbeing is one part of a broader understanding of the factors that influence mental health, and focusses on 'interventions' individuals can participate in, to improve their mental wellbeing. Our mental health is shaped by individual, community and societal factors, past and present, that vary in each person's life. These include secure housing; feeling safe and respected at home and in the community; educational opportunities; positive organisational settings including workplaces, schools and aged care; good food on the table; healthy sleep and physical activity; access to healthcare including mental health supports; social connection; and a sense of purpose in daily life.

We encourage readers to embrace this guide to help enable a greater focus on mental wellbeing. This is a step towards Beyond Blue's vision: that all people in Australia achieve their best possible mental health. By working together to promote mental wellbeing, we can make it easier for people to feel better earlier, get well and stay well.

#### **Beyond Blue**



#### Copyright

Beyond Blue Ltd, Agteren, Iasiello, Lo. Suggested citation: Van Agteren J., Iasiello M. & Lo L. (2023). A guide to what works for mental wellbeing. Melbourne, Beyond Blue.

#### **About the authors**

The authors of this guide are researchers at the South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute (SAHMRI). Its authors are Joep van Agteren, Matthew Iasiello and Laura Lo.

#### **Acknowledgments**

The authors wish to thank Shannon Brown at Flinders University for her guidance in developing the research strategy that underpinned the review and SAHMRI staff for their support in conducting the review.

Thank you to the Beyond Blue project team for reviewing and commenting on drafts of this guide. We also thank the Blue Voices members for their contributions and support.

## **Contents**

What is mental wellbeing?	5
Mental wellbeing and mental health conditions	6
How this guide was developed	7
Cultural background and mental wellbeing	9
Social and emotional wellbeing and First Nations Peoples	10
How to use this guide	11
A summary of what works for mental wellbeing	13
Interventions	15
Social prescribing interventions	16
Physical activity interventions	17
Nutrition and diet interventions	18
Art interventions	19
Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT)	20
Life coaching interventions	2
Cognitive therapy (CT) and cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)	22
Compassion interventions	23
Expressive writing interventions	24
Forgiveness interventions	25
Mindfulness interventions	26
Positive psychological interventions (PPIs): multi-component	27
Positive psychological interventions (PPIs): single	28
Psycho-educational interventions	3
Reminiscence interventions	32
Dance interventions	33
Yoga interventions	34
Gardening interventions	35
Leisure-based interventions	36
Nature-based interventions	37
Pro-social interventions	38
Social support interventions	39
What influences the effectiveness of mental wellbeing interventions?	40
References	42

The information in this document is general advice only. The advice within it may therefore not apply to your circumstances and is not intended to replace the advice of a healthcare professional. References are located at the end of the document.

## What is mental wellbeing?

Improving mental wellbeing can support mental health, including for people experiencing a mental health condition.

### There is more to mental health than the absence of a mental health condition.

According to the World Health Organisation, mental health is a state of mental wellbeing that enables people to cope with the stresses of life, realise their abilities, learn well and work well, and contribute to their community.

Mental wellbeing is a component of mental health. It can be understood as how people feel and how they function on a personal and social level, and how they evaluate their lives as a whole.

As a part of the development of this guide, community members provided insights regarding current scientific definitions of mental wellbeing. This included the voices of people with lived experience of mental health conditions. Feedback from this discussion reflected the following understanding of mental wellbeing:

Mental wellbeing is a state where we view ourselves and our lives positively. It's a personal and subjective experience that can involve meaningful connection with others, having a sense of purpose, and experiencing feelings of optimism.

Our mental wellbeing goes up and down and is influenced by the way we adapt to the challenges we face. It's impacted by our environment, life experiences, cultural background and behaviours.

Everyone has a level of mental wellbeing, and we can improve it by taking action, even when we experience a mental health condition.

A greater focus on mental wellbeing has potential benefits for all. When someone experiences mental wellbeing, they often have better connections with others, can manage their emotions and feel greater optimism, and acknowledge a sense of meaning and purpose in their lives.

A well-established body of research shows that mental wellbeing is linked to a wide range of benefits.

Some of these benefits include:

- better physical health
- · improvements in quality of life
- reducing the risk of developing a mental health condition
- improvements for people experiencing a mental health condition

## Mental wellbeing and mental health conditions

There is value in understanding the relationship between mental wellbeing and mental health conditions.

All people, including those experiencing a mental health condition, can experience mental wellbeing and live meaningful and contributing lives. This is supported by feedback from people with a mental health condition and the scientific research.

For example, a person managing an ongoing mental health condition in a non-acute phase, such as anxiety, bipolar disorder or PTSD, may also experience a strong sense of purpose, daily enjoyment, good relationships, and work on their self-development – all of which contribute positively to mental wellbeing. Positive mental wellbeing may help the person to manage their mental health condition, and experience better mental health overall.

This way of thinking about our mental health has important implications for the services we design and the types of care we provide. It means we need to adopt a considered approach to improving mental wellbeing. We cannot take interventions designed for mental health conditions and think they will automatically work to build mental wellbeing, and vice versa.

This guide contributes to our understanding by providing insights on interventions targeted at the individual to improve mental wellbeing, across multiple sources of evidence.

## How this guide was developed

This guide summarises the findings of a review of the scientific literature on interventions to improve mental wellbeing.

#### **Evaluating the evidence**

The team undertook an umbrella review, sometimes called a 'review of reviews', aimed at discovering effective interventions to improve mental wellbeing.

For clarity, this review did not capture the results of individual studies or other research not published in peer-reviewed journals, such as grey literature. That is, the search was focused on previously published reviews.

This type of review is an efficient way to capture results of large and diverse research fields and is considered one of the highest levels of evidence quality. This approach was adopted for two main reasons:

- To manage the expected high volume of identified studies across multiple types of interventions. For example, a recent systematic review of psychological interventions resulted in 23,038 references to review.
- To establish the existing evidence base with confidence, to ensure this review is a trusted source of credible information on mental wellbeing interventions.

In early 2023, the scientific literature was searched systematically on the following online databases: PsycINFO, Scopus, Pubmed/Medline and CINAHL.

The review was deliberately broad. It looked at reviews on any type of intervention (for example, systematic reviews summarising the effect of mindfulness or social prescribing on mental wellbeing). When the evidence presented within the reviews of interventions was limited or conflicting, the team conducted

a manual search for individual studies for those interventions to ensure that the evidence was not misrepresented.

#### Interventions for depression and anxiety

Reviews were included in the report if they were explicitly focused on mental wellbeing and included studies with dedicated measures of mental wellbeing as outcomes.

This review speaks to impact on outcomes of mental wellbeing only. While the interventions may also have a benefit on other outcomes, such as depression or anxiety, this is not considered in this review.

To learn more about which interventions work for depression or anxiety, see <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

#### A focus on intervention studies

This study looked at interventions to improve mental wellbeing. We looked at reviews with methodologies that allowed us to determine what someone can tangibly do or implement to positively influence mental wellbeing. For example, this means we looked at reviews that tested the impact of interventions, programs or initiatives as tested by randomised controlled studies or pre-post studies.

For this reason, this guide does not list everything that may be good for a person's mental wellbeing. There are lots of things that are important for mental wellbeing, but they have not been studied in intervention studies, so could not be included in the current report. For example, observational studies have shown that certain behaviours, such as healthy eating, are on average

associated with mental wellbeing, however such findings are outside the scope of the methodology of this report.

As a result, some of the evidence ratings in this guide may come as a surprise. Remember, this does not mean that something is not good for mental wellbeing. Rather, it indicates where more intervention research may be needed.

It is important to note that research on mental wellbeing is significantly less mature than other areas of mental health, such as depression and anxiety. Over time, with a maturing evidence base, we hope to see more interventions, programs and initiatives that reliably improve mental wellbeing.

## Cultural background and mental wellbeing

Our cultural background shapes our identity and our sense of belonging in our community.

#### Our cultural background influences our mental wellbeing and the things we can do to improve mental wellbeing.

Many scientific studies on mental wellbeing have been conducted in Western countries, which leads to caution when trying to translate the evidence to other cultures. Considerable effort has been taken to testing (at least a subset of) mental wellbeing interventions in different countries, among people with various ethnicities and within different cultural contexts.

This report will outline the insights from these studies when describing the evidence for different types of interventions.

# Social and emotional wellbeing and First Nations Peoples

First Nations Peoples have a holistic view of health and mental health. Mental health is thought of in terms of social and emotional wellbeing.

In First Nations communities, social and emotional wellbeing is underpinned by the connections between spiritual, cultural, social, emotional, physical and community influences on health. Family and community relationships are the basis of culture and are important to community wellbeing. This holistic view of social and emotional wellbeing is a strength of first nations communities.

The concepts of 'social and emotional wellbeing' and 'mental wellbeing' share overlap - for example with their emphasis on strengths and resourcefulness. However, social and emotional wellbeing focuses on broader conceptualisations about the quality of a person's life rather than the factors that influence mental wellbeing. Furthermore, mental wellbeing research for First Nations Peoples often uses distinct research methodologies.

As such, this report does not focus on social and emotional wellbeing, which would benefit from a dedicated report that does justice to the growing body of literature on improving the social and emotional wellbeing of First Nations Peoples.

## How to use this guide

Each intervention in this guide is rated based on the strength of its evidence and what the research indicates about its effectiveness.

All the interventions in this guide have been investigated as possible approaches to improve mental wellbeing. However, the amount of evidence supporting the effectiveness of different interventions can vary greatly.

## **Understanding the evidence quality ratings**

We have rated the quality of the evidence for each intervention covered in this guide using a 'thumbs' scale. It's important to note the rating scale indicates the strength of the evidence base, not how effective the intervention is. So, regardless of the number of thumbs an intervention receives, a 'thumbs up' indicates there is evidence that it will improve mental wellbeing.

We have also rated the evidence for interventions that improve mental wellbeing in population groups, looking at general populations and clinical populations. By clinical populations, we mean people with a mental health condition or experiencing current symptoms of poor mental health, such as anxiety or depression.

#### **Evidence quality ratings**







There are three or more systematic reviews, including at least one meta-analysis, showing that the intervention improves mental wellbeing.





There are 2 or more systematic reviews showing that the intervention improves mental wellbeing.



There is one systematic review showing that the Intervention improves mental wellbeing.



Although the systematic reviews on the topic had inconclusive results, at least 2 high-quality studies indicate that there is emerging evidence that the intervention improves mental wellbeing.



There either is not enough evidence or the evidence is currently unclear as to whether the intervention improves mental wellbeing.



There is evidence to suggest that the intervention does not lead to a meaningful improvement in mental wellbeing.

#### **Evidence in populations**



Evidence shows that the intervention improves mental wellbeing for general populations



There is insufficient evidence from this review that the intervention improves mental wellbeing for general populations.



Evidence shows the intervention improves mental wellbeing for clinical populations.



There is insufficient evidence from this review that the intervention improves mental wellbeing for clinical populations.

#### **Glossary**

**Systematic review:** A systematic review attempts to identify and review all of the relevant evidence to answer a given research question.

**Meta-analysis:** A statistical process for bringing together data from different studies, which have investigated the same issue, to find common results and identify overall trends.

**Narrative review:** A narrative or traditional literature review is a comprehensive and objective analysis of the current knowledge on a topic.

**General populations:** The evidence has been assessed for interventions that improve the mental wellbeing of people generally, without determining effectiveness for specific subpopulations (e.g., people experiencing a mental health condition).

Clinical populations: The evidence has been assessed for interventions that improve the mental wellbeing of people with a mental health condition, or experiencing current symptoms of poor mental health, such as anxiety or depression. For clarity, this review did not examine the impact of the intervention on improving symptoms of mental health conditions. Further, in this context, 'clinical' is not referring to other physical and medical conditions.

## **Key considerations for the findings** in this guide

The points below reinforce the key considerations for interpreting the findings of this guide:

This review looks at the impact of the interventions listed on an individual's mental wellbeing. It does not look at the impact of these interventions on other mental health concepts, such as symptoms of depression or anxiety.



This review looks at impact on overall mental wellbeing. It does not look at the impact on specific components of wellbeing (for example, a sense of purpose, relationships or autonomy).



This review sets a high bar for evidence by predominantly examining systematic reviews. This is to ensure that we present the interventions with the strongest evidence behind them, and build confidence that this review is a trusted source of information on mental wellbeing interventions.



## A summary of what works for mental wellbeing

Interventions	
Social prescribing interventions	000
Physical activity interventions	<b>000</b>
Nutrition and diet interventions	<b>(a)</b>
Art interventions	000
Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT)	000
Life coaching interventions	6)
Cognitive therapy (CT) and cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)	000
Compassion interventions	<b>(1)</b>
Expressive writing interventions	1
Forgiveness interventions	
Mindfulness interventions	000
Positive psychological interventions (PPIs): multi-component.	
Note: Many studies have tested the impact of individual positive psychological interventions. The results of these are on page 28.	999
Psycho-educational interventions	<b>(1)</b>
Reminiscence interventions	<b>000</b>
Dance interventions	<b>6</b>

Yoga interventions	
Gardening interventions	<b>(1)</b>
Leisure-based interventions	<u>(1)</u>
Nature-based interventions	<b>(1)</b>
Pro-social interventions	<u> </u>
Social support interventions	<b>(4)</b>

## Interventions

## Social prescribing interventions

#### **Evidence rating**







General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Social prescribing interventions involve connecting people with non-medical resources and services in their community that could support mental wellbeing.

These services include social groups, community centres, exercise programs, volunteering opportunities and other activities that are known to have positive impacts on mental wellbeing.

#### How is it meant to work?

Social prescribing interventions are focused on increasing a sense of social connection. When someone engages with a social prescribing intervention, they may experience a sense of belonging and social connectedness, resulting in increased mental wellbeing.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Three systematic reviews and meta-analyses and 3 narrative systematic reviews, ranging from 3 to 11 studies, reported that social prescribing interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing.

There is a lot of variation in what can be considered a social prescribing intervention.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes, although most social prescribing interventions are delivered over a longer period.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Social prescribing interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing. More clarity on the definition of a social prescribing intervention would help with better understanding its effects.

## Physical activity interventions

#### **Evidence rating**







General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Physical activity interventions are programs or strategies designed to increase or change the level of physical activity. These interventions may involve structured exercise programs, such as aerobics or weightlifting, or more informal activities, like walking or swimming.

#### How is it meant to work?

Physical activity interventions are designed to work by helping people achieve and maintain a healthy level of physical activity.

By getting more exercise and moving more regularly, people can improve their cardiovascular health, strengthen their bones and muscles, and reduce their risk of chronic diseases. These immediate and long-term health benefits drive positive mental wellbeing.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Five reviews including 7 meta-analyses and 5 narrative systematic reviews, with review sizes ranging from 4 to 48 studies, showed that physical activity interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing. These studies were conducted among people not experiencing a mental health condition (general population), as well as among those experiencing mental health symptoms (clinical population).

The research found that physical activity interventions were effective across age groups and were most effective in improving the mental wellbeing of middle-aged adults and people who are sedentary.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research suggested that aerobic and resistance-based exercise may be more effective compared with calisthenic (bodyweight) exercises. One review that focused on high intensity interval training (HIIT) did not find a significant impact on mental wellbeing.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Physical activity interventions are highly effective at improving mental wellbeing for general and clinical populations.

See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

## Nutrition and diet interventions

#### **Evidence rating**



General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Nutrition and diet interventions aim to positively influence the consumption of food or nutrients to benefit mental wellbeing.

#### How is it meant to work?

Nutrition and diet interventions take different approaches, including providing general education about healthy eating and portion control, encouraging whole-of-diet changes (for example, switching to a Mediterranean diet), increasing intake of specific nutrients and vitamins (for example, vitamin C), providing advice on personalised meal planning and maintaining healthy eating habits.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One review indicated that eating more fruit and vegetables can improve mental wellbeing in general population. In this research, it was not clear if people experiencing a mental health condition (clinical populations) also benefited.

A second review that looked at intake of vitamin D did not indicate an improvement in mental wellbeing.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Increasing fruit and vegetable intake may improve mental wellbeing. Further evidence is recommended to assess how diet and nutrition interventions may improve mental wellbeing.

See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

#### **Art interventions**

#### **Evidence rating**







General **Populations** 



Clinical **Populations** 



#### Recommendation

Art interventions are effective at improving the wellbeing of general populations and clinical populations.

#### What is it?

Art interventions use various art forms, such as drawing, painting, music or drama, as a therapeutic tool to improve mental wellbeing.

#### How is it meant to work?

Art interventions are meant to provide a creative outlet for people to express their thoughts, emotions and experiences. They may stimulate flow.

Art interventions can also act as a nonverbal form of communication, allowing people to express their feelings in ways that may be difficult to do through words.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One meta-analysis and 5 narrative systematic reviews, ranging from 6 to 17 studies, found that art interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing in those not experiencing a mental health condition (general population) and those experiencing mental health symptoms (clinical populations).

Amongst sub-populations, the reviews found that art interventions can be effective in older adults and caregivers.

#### Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

## Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT)

#### **Evidence rating**







**General Populations** 



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) is a form of psychotherapy that teaches people the benefits of responding to unpleasant thoughts and feelings in a mindful and accepting way.

Although it has roots in cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), ACT emphasises practising acceptance and non-judgment over learning to change unpleasant thoughts and feelings. (Cognitive behavioural therapy interventions are discussed on page 22.)

#### How is it meant to work?

Acceptance and commitment therapy interventions are based on the idea that trying to avoid or control difficult thoughts and feelings often makes them worse. Instead, ACT teaches people to practise psychological flexibility.

When someone is psychologically inflexible, they can get trapped in impulsive and reactive ways of thinking or behaving. By becoming psychologically flexible, people learn to make decisions and behave in a way that is consistent with their goals and values, even in the face of difficult thoughts, feelings, memories and experiences. This in turn can lead to an improvement in their mental wellbeing.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Five reviews, including 6 meta-analyses, indicated that ACT interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing among general populations and among clinical populations. Reviews ranged in size from 3 studies to 12 studies.

Reviews specifically found that ACT interventions delivered in workplaces and universities can improve mental wellbeing.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

Acceptance and commitment therapy interventions were shown to be effective when delivered in a variety of formats, including individual (one-on-one) delivery and group-based programs. One review that focused on ACT-based smartphone apps found them to be effective at improving mental wellbeing. In general, it was shown that longer, more intensive formats were the most effective.

#### Are there any risks?

There are no major risks associated with ACT interventions. When working with clinical populations, it is recommended to involve a trained mental health professional.

#### Recommendation

Acceptance and commitment therapy interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing among general populations and clinical populations.

See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

#### Life coaching interventions

#### **Evidence rating**



General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Through life coaching interventions, people learn to work on personal development and goal achievement to benefit their mental wellbeing.

As life coaching interventions focus on personal development, they are generally applied in non-clinical settings.

#### How is it meant to work?

Individuals work with a life coach to learn mental wellbeing strategies for enhancing particular areas of their life.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One review of 8 studies indicated that the evidence on the effectiveness of life coaching interventions on mental wellbeing was not yet conclusive. As several high-quality individual studies support the impact of life coaching on mental wellbeing, the evidence is graded as emerging.

Currently there is emerging positive evidence for those not experiencing symptoms of a mental health condition (general populations) and insufficient evidence for those experiencing a mental health condition (clinical populations).

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The review did not provide any guidance on implementation. In general, life coaching interventions tend to be conducted one-on-one and require intensive contact over a longer period of time to be effective.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Life coaching as an intervention to improve mental wellbeing has good emerging evidence for general populations. More evidence is encouraged for clinical populations.

Note: In some instances, psychological interventions with a stronger evidence base – such as Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) or Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) – may be referred to as 'coaching'. For example, Beyond Blue NewAccess mental health coaching programs use an evidence based Low intensity CBT Intervention, based on the successful Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) model in the UK (adapted for Australia).

## Cognitive therapy (CT) and cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)

#### **Evidence rating**







General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Interventions that use cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) techniques aim to help individuals manage negative or unhelpful thought patterns that can negatively impact their mental wellbeing.

#### How is it meant to work?

CBT-based interventions are grounded in the idea that the way people think affects the way they feel and behave. Using different exercises or techniques, participants identify and work on automatic negative thoughts and beliefs that are contributing to poor mental health.

Although CBT-based interventions have traditionally been used to help treat mental health conditions, they can also be used to help improve mental wellbeing. For example, experiencing problematic thoughts can affect aspects of mental wellbeing, such as making it more difficult to experience a sense of purpose or self-acceptance.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

CBT-based interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing. Reviews ranged in size from including 9 to 17 studies.

The evidence mainly supports their use among people in clinical populations, with evidence in general populations being inconclusive.

Most reviews do not test for the impact of CBT-based interventions among the general population. The one review that did concluded that there was inconclusive evidence for their

use in the general population. One review found that CBT-based interventions are effective at improving the mental wellbeing of older adults.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not provide much guidance on implementation. Generally, more intensive interventions delivered over a longer period of time lead to better outcomes. One review found that CBT-based smartphone apps can be effective at improving mental wellbeing.

It should be noted that many of the psychological interventions described in this report include techniques from CBT-based interventions, such as positive psychological interventions and mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (mindfulness interventions are discussed on page 26).

These are effective at improving mental wellbeing general populations, indicating that combining CBT-based techniques with other approaches can be recommended.

#### Are there any risks?

CBT-based interventions are generally considered safe. When working with clinical populations, it's recommended to involve a trained mental health professional.

#### **Recommendation**

CBT-based interventions are an effective approach to improving the mental wellbeing of individuals with symptoms of a mental health condition. To improve the mental wellbeing of people in the general population, CBT-based intervention techniques should be combined with other approaches – for example, with mindfulness or positive psychology techniques.

See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

#### **Compassion interventions**

#### **Evidence rating**



General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Compassion interventions focus on increasing compassion to oneself or others, for instance by noticing moments of struggle and responding in supportive and considerate ways. These interventions include compassion-focused therapy and interventions that focus on self-compassion.

#### How is it meant to work?

Compassion interventions are based on the idea that being compassionate to oneself or others is an essential component of mental wellbeing. Compassion interventions often include skills that teach an individual to be more understanding and accepting of themselves and others. It should be noted that compassion techniques are often used in combination with other approaches, such as mindfulness.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One review with a meta-analysis of 9 studies showed that compassion-based interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing in general populations. There is insufficient evidence in clinical populations.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The review did not provide any guidance on implementation. Typically, compassion interventions are delivered in multiple sessions over a longer period of time.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

While compassion-based interventions can lead to improvements in mental wellbeing in the general population, more evidence is recommended to be certain of the effect for general populations and to understand the impact for clinical populations.

## **Expressive writing interventions**

#### **Evidence rating**





General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### Recommendation

Expressive writing interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing in the general population.

#### What is it?

Expressive writing interventions are a form of therapeutic writing where people record their thoughts and feelings about a particular event or topic.

#### How is it meant to work?

By inviting people to put their thoughts and feelings into words, expressive writing interventions aim to foster clarity and insight into someone's experiences, allowing them to process and express their emotions. This in turn may lead to improved mental wellbeing.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Two reviews with meta-analyses showed that expressive writing interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing in general populations. There is insufficient evidence for sub-populations or clinical populations.

One review that looked specifically at positive writing, where participants focused on writing only about positive events, found it was not effective at improving mental wellbeing.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any specific guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes.

#### Are there any risks?

While expressive writing interventions are generally considered safe. Writing about negative events or experiences can be uncomfortable and especially so for traumatic experiences.

#### **Forgiveness interventions**

#### **Evidence rating**





General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Forgiveness interventions aim to help people overcome feelings of resentment, anger and bitterness towards others who have hurt or wronged them. These interventions use techniques from more formal approaches, such as forgiveness therapy.

#### How is it meant to work?

Forgiveness interventions can involve a range of techniques and strategies, including empathy-building, perspective-taking and cognitive restructuring, to help people develop more positive attitudes and emotions towards those who have caused them harm, ultimately aiming to improve their mental wellbeing.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Two meta-analyses of 5 and 6 studies found mixed evidence on the ability of forgiveness interventions to improve mental wellbeing. While the results from one review were inconclusive, the other review documented a significant positive effect supporting forgiveness interventions to improve mental wellbeing.

There is insufficient evidence regarding the impact of forgiveness interventions to improve mental wellbeing for sub-populations or in people experiencing a mental health condition (clinical populations).

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes. However, it appears that forgiveness interventions may be more effective when delivered in groups compared with one-on-one delivery.

#### Are there any risks?

While forgiveness interventions are generally considered safe, it should be considered that focusing on negative past events can be overwhelming and uncomfortable.

#### Recommendation

Forgiveness interventions may lead to improvements in mental wellbeing in general populations. However, more evidence is recommended to be certain of the effect.

#### Mindfulness interventions

#### **Evidence rating**







General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Mindfulness interventions are practices or exercises that help people cultivate greater awareness and acceptance of their presentmoment experiences. These interventions involve training people to focus on and explore their thoughts, feelings and bodily sensations without judgment or reactivity.

Mindfulness interventions stem from Eastern meditation principles, but current-day techniques extend beyond pure meditation.

#### How is it meant to work?

Mindfulness interventions are designed to help people observe their experiences without judgement or trying to control their impact. The aim is for people to better manage their emotions and enjoy greater mental wellbeing on a day-to-day basis.

Mindfulness activities come in many forms, including guided meditations, mindful breathing exercises and body scans, and are often grouped together in formal programs. They are often delivered as part of, or together with, other interventions such as CBT-based interventions and nature-based interventions.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Tested in a wide variety of populations and formats, mindfulness interventions are backed by one of the largest bodies of evidence supporting their effectiveness on improving mental wellbeing.

Sixteen reviews including 31 meta-analyses and 13 narrative reviews showed that mindfulness interventions are highly effective at improving mental wellbeing. Review sizes ranged from 3 studies to 56 studies.

The research found mindfulness interventions are generally effective across age groups and gender. Mindfulness has been successfully studied in a number of contexts, such as workplaces, caring relationships, family relationships and across cultural groups.

While mindfulness interventions have been studied in schools and universities, the research to date found conflicting evidence for their effectiveness in these specific settings.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research found that a number of mindfulness intervention protocols are effective, including mindfulness-based cognitive therapy and mindfulness-based stress reduction. One review found that the effectiveness of loving kindness meditation on improving mental wellbeing is not yet conclusive.

One review focused on self-guided formats, including print and digital resources, and showed effectiveness at improving mental wellbeing. The amount of benefit was smaller (on average) than more intense interventions delivered in person and over a longer period of time.

#### Are there any risks?

Mindfulness interventions are generally considered safe and effective for most people. They encourage people to notice what they've experiencing in the present moment, either pleasant or unpleasant. However, they may not work for everyone. When delivering mindfulness interventions to those experiencing a mental health condition (clinical population), it is recommended to do so under the guidance of a trained mental health professional.

#### **Recommendation**

Mindfulness interventions are highly effective at improving mental wellbeing in general populations, as well as clinical populations, with a robust evidence base supporting a wide number of approaches and delivery formats.

## Positive psychological interventions (PPIs): multi-component

#### **Evidence rating**







General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Positive psychological interventions (PPIs) are programs aimed at increasing positive feelings and thoughts. They are named as such because they fall within a field of scientific study called 'positive psychology'.

Positive psychological interventions labelled as 'multi-component' include several positive psychological activities that form part of a larger program or intervention (see <u>page 28</u> for a breakdown of individual PPIs).

Also included in this grouping are more formal approaches, such as wellbeing therapy, which aims to apply positive psychology principles in a clinical context for people who are diagnosed with a mental health condition.

#### How is it meant to work?

Multi-component PPIs combine various PPIs into a program that is delivered over a longer period of time.

Positive psychological interventions are specifically designed to increase positive emotions by emphasising and working with positive thoughts, experiences and personal characteristics. This in turn enhances overall mental wellbeing.

Activities may include a combination of the individual PPIs identified on page 28, including working on values and character strengths.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Eleven reviews including 16 meta-analyses, with review sizes ranging from 5 to 293

studies, and 9 narrative reviews demonstrated that multicomponent PPIs are effective at improving mental wellbeing for general and clinical populations.

In addition to mindfulness, this type of intervention to date has the most significant evidence base for improving mental wellbeing.

Reviews indicated that multicomponent PPIs are equally effective in clinical and general populations across cultures. Other reviews indicated that PPIs are effective across age and gender.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

Evidence indicates more intense programs are more effective than shorter programs. Unguided and less intensive approaches like online delivery, however, can still be effective at improving mental wellbeing.

Multi-component PPIs can be successfully delivered using group-based formats. Among clinical populations, more intensive and formal programs can lead to significant improvements in mental wellbeing.

Multicomponent PPIs have been successfully tested within workplaces and universities. One area where evidence is not strong relates to the role of multicomponent PPIs within schools, with reviews not always providing positive results. Like mindfulness interventions, this may partly reflect issues with implementation and testing, rather than the benefit of PPIs.

#### Are there any risks?

Generally, multicomponent PPIs are considered safe and low risk among general and clinical populations.

#### Recommendation

Multicomponent PPIs are effective at improving mental wellbeing among general populations and clinical populations, bolstered by an extensive and robust evidence base.

## **Positive psychological interventions (PPIs): single**

#### What is it?

Rather than provided as part of larger programs or interventions, positive psychological interventions (PPIs) are often prescribed as single activities focusing on a specific area.

Instead of treating these as separate interventions, it is better to see these as elements of larger PPI programs. Nevertheless, many studies have tested the impact of these individual activities, the results of which are provided below.

#### How is it meant to work?

Positive psychological interventions are designed to improve positive feelings, thoughts and behaviours. For the purpose of this review, activities that are explicitly focused on inducing positive states are classified as PPIs.

#### Types of positive psychological interventions (PPI)

#### **Acts of kindness**





#### What is it and how is it meant to work?

Acts of kindness interventions aim to increase pro-social behaviour by helping people engage in kind acts towards others. These interventions involve performing simple, intentional acts of kindness, such as writing a thank-you note or helping someone with a task. The idea is that performing kind acts leads to positive emotions, which can then lead to increased mental wellbeing and stronger social connections. They can be seen as pro-social interventions (see <a href="page 38">page 38</a>), as well as PPIs.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Two meta-analyses, ranging from 15 to 56 studies, found that acts of kindness may be effective at improving mental wellbeing. However, there were some mixed results. Acts of kindness may lead to improvements in mental wellbeing but more information is needed to be certain of the effect.

#### **Best possible self**



#### What is it and how is it meant to work?

Best possible self interventions involve imagining and reflecting on an ideal future self, and the steps required to make that vision a reality. Best possible self interventions are designed to help people focus on their goals and aspirations, creating a positive vision for their future. By imagining the best possible version of themselves, the idea is that people can increase their optimism and motivation, which in turn could lead to increased mental wellbeing.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Two meta-analyses, ranging from 7 to 16 studies, and a narrative systematic review supported the effect of best possible self interventions on mental wellbeing. However, the results were mixed. Best possible self interventions may lead to improvements, but more information is required to be certain of the effect on overall mental wellbeing.

#### Types of positive psychological interventions (PPI)

#### **Character strengths**







#### What is it and how is it meant to work?

Character strength interventions are programs designed to help people identify and use their individual strengths to promote mental wellbeing. These interventions are based on the notion that behaving in line with personal values can help us cope with challenges and lead a more fulfilling life. Character strength interventions try to counteract our human tendency to focus on our weaknesses and encourages activities such as using our strengths in new and creative ways and settings goals in line with our values.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Three meta-analyses and a narrative systematic review, ranging from 9 to 14 studies, predominately studied in healthy adults, showed that character strength interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing. However, more research is needed to understand the effect in those experiencing mental health challenges.

#### **Gratitude**



#### What is it and how is it meant to work?

Gratitude interventions are activities or exercises designed to build a sense of gratitude or appreciation for the positive things in life.

Gratitude interventions aim to shift our focus from negative to positive thoughts and emotions. These interventions often involve reflecting on and expressing thanks for the people, experiences or things that bring joy or help in some way. Gratitude interventions may take many forms, such as gratitude journals or writing letters of gratitude.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Four systematic reviews with meta-analyses and one narrative systematic review, ranging from 6 to 32 studies, showed mixed results for the impact of gratitude interventions. The results were too conflicting for a rating to be generated at this stage. It remains unclear whether gratitude interventions in their current form are effective for improving mental wellbeing.

#### **Humour**



#### What is it and how is it meant to work?

Humour-based interventions work by using humour as a tool to build positive emotions and cope with stress and negative emotions. The idea is that humour releases feel-good chemicals in the brain, which can encourage more positive emotions and reduce stress. Humour-based interventions may also include activities like watching a funny movie, reading a humorous book or writing jokes.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One meta-analysis of 12 studies showed that humour-based interventions can be effective at improving mental wellbeing. Humour-based interventions may lead to improvements in mental wellbeing in general populations. However, more information is recommended regarding effect.

#### Types of positive psychological interventions (PPI)

#### Reflecting on pleasurable experiences



#### What is it and how is it meant to work?

Pleasure-based interventions aim to stimulate reflection on past pleasurable activities, events or interactions to build mental wellbeing.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One meta-analysis of 6 studies did not find evidence that reflecting on pleasurable experiences alone can lead to improvements in mental wellbeing.

#### Three good things



#### What is it and how is it meant to work?

The three good things activity invites people to think about three good things that have happened to them. For example, someone may be asked to think back over the past week to identify moments that made them feel good or had special significance. The idea is that the activity helps people bring the positives in their life to the forefront of their awareness.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One meta-analysis of 10 studies did not find evidence the three good things activity alone is effective at improving mental wellbeing.

## Psycho-educational interventions

#### **Evidence rating**





General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Psycho-educational interventions focus on providing education about mental health conditions and symptoms, what positive mental wellbeing looks like and treatment options.

This includes general mental health promotion programs that have a large educational focus. These interventions are not just targeted at the mental health challenges of individuals, but can also focus on the mental health challenges that arise from caring for others.

#### How is it meant to work?

Psycho-educational interventions work by providing people with knowledge and skills to better understand, manage and seek help for mental health conditions and related issues, such as stress and hardships.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Two reviews including one meta-analysis and 2 narrative reviews found that psycho-educational interventions can be effective at improving mental wellbeing in general populations.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

There was some variability depending on the focus of the interventions and the settings in which they were rolled out. For example, school-based mental health promotion interventions led to improved mental wellbeing.

For tools and resources that support educators to promote mental health and wellbeing in early learning services and schools, see <u>Be You</u>, the national mental health in education initiative led by Beyond Blue.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Psycho-educational interventions can be effective at improving mental wellbeing, particularly when they focus on general mental health promotion.

See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

#### **Reminiscence interventions**

#### **Evidence rating**







**General Populations** 



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Reminiscence interventions combine activities that involve recalling and processing past experiences. They include activities such as looking at photos, listening to music or talking about memories

Reminiscence interventions are often used in therapy or caregiving settings, and include more formal programs such as life review therapy.

#### How is it meant to work?

Reminiscence interventions are designed to work by tapping into the power of memories and emotions. By reflecting on past experiences, participants gain a deeper understanding of their life story and find meaning in their journey.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Nine reviews including 10 meta-analyses and 5 narrative systematic reviews, with review sizes ranging from 3 to 36, showed that reminiscence interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing in general and clinical populations.

Reminiscence interventions were found to effectively improve mental wellbeing in a wide range of individuals, including older adults, people from a range of cultural backgrounds and individuals experiencing mental health issues.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research found that structured life review programs that are focused on evaluating the significance and impact of significant life events are most effective. It was found that longer

programs were more effective, and that they could be successfully delivered in one-on-one and group-based formats.

#### Are there any risks?

Reminiscence interventions are generally considered safe.

#### Recommendation

Reminiscence interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing, particularly for older adults.

#### **Dance interventions**

#### **Evidence rating**



General Populations



Clinical Populations



See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

#### What is it?

Dance interventions aim to use dance, movement and creative expression to improve mental wellbeing. Interventions can range from recreational dancing to formal programs such as dance movement therapy.

#### How is it meant to work?

Dance interventions bring together several elements that are conducive to mental wellbeing, including physical activity, social connection and flow.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One systematic review of 8 studies concluded that dance may be impactful in improving mental wellbeing in general populations. However, results were mixed. The evidence was graded as emerging as individual studies were identified that support the positive effects of dance interventions on mental wellbeing.

Currently, we do not have enough information to provide guidance on whether dance interventions benefit people experiencing a mental health condition (clinical populations).

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Dance interventions may be effective at improving mental wellbeing in the general population. However, more evidence is recommended

#### Yoga interventions

#### **Evidence rating**





General **Populations** 



Clinical **Populations** 



See also A guide to what works for depression and A guide to what works for anxiety, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

#### What is it?

Yoga interventions involve the use of physical postures, breathing exercises and meditation to improve physical and mental health.

There are many different types of yoga practice - some are more focused on physical activity and fitness, while others align more closely with mindfulness approaches.

#### How is it meant to work?

Yoga interventions help to connect mind, body and breath through a series of physical postures, breathing techniques and meditation practices. Physical postures help to stretch and strengthen the muscles, while breathing techniques aim to calm the nervous system.

#### Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

One meta-analysis and 2 narrative systematic reviews generally found that yoga can be effective at improving mental wellbeing. However, some mixed results were found across the reviews.

#### Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research found that longer, more intensive programs resulted in the most effective outcomes.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Yoga interventions can be an effective approach to improving mental wellbeing. Further research is encouraged to provide more insight into who benefits most from yoga interventions.

#### **Gardening interventions**

#### **Evidence rating**





General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### Recommendation

Gardening interventions are generally effective at improving mental wellbeing. More evidence is recommended regarding gardening interventions and improving mental wellbeing in clinical populations.

#### What is it?

Gardening interventions are programs or activities that involve gardening as a means to improve physical health and mental wellbeing.

These interventions can range from community gardening projects to therapeutic horticulture programs in healthcare settings.

#### How is it meant to work?

Gardening interventions are meant to work by providing a positive and engaging activity that can improve mental and physical wellbeing.

There are various ways through which they may build mental wellbeing, including by increasing physical activity, developing a sense of accomplishment and satisfaction or, in the case of group programs, fostering a sense of community.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Two meta-analyses and 2 narrative systematic reviews, ranging from 4 to 7 studies, found that gardening interventions are effective for improving mental wellbeing.

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

Gardening interventions are often offered in group settings. They tend to be delivered over a longer period of time with regular interactions. One specific type of gardening intervention, horticultural therapy, currently has an inconclusive evidence base when it comes to improving the mental wellbeing of older adults.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### **Leisure-based interventions**

#### **Evidence rating**



General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Leisure-based interventions involve engaging in enjoyable and meaningful activities, such as hobbies to improve mental wellbeing.

#### How is it meant to work?

Leisure-based interventions are meant to work by helping people find and engage in enjoyable leisure activities that can increase feelings of happiness, relaxation and satisfaction. Additionally, participating in leisure activities can help people build social connections and increase feelings of social support.

## Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

While one review and meta-analysis of 6 studies showed that leisure-based interventions may improve mental wellbeing, the results were inconclusive. The evidence was graded as emerging as several studies were identified that support the positive effects of leisure-based interventions

## Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes.

#### Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### **Recommendation**

Leisure-based interventions may be effective at improving mental wellbeing, but more evidence is recommended.

# Nature-based interventions

# **Evidence rating**





General Populations



Clinical Populations



## What is it?

Nature-based interventions use natural outdoor environments to improve mental and physical health. They can include activities like nature walks, outdoor meditation or simply spending more time in nature. These are sometimes called 'greenspace' interventions when they take place in parks, gardens or forests, and 'bluespace' interventions when they take place in lakes, rivers, oceans or swimming pools.

#### How is it meant to work?

Nature-based interventions are meant to work by providing people with access to natural environments and opportunities for physical activity and social interaction, further promoting mental wellbeing.

# Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Five narrative reviews, ranging from 3 to 5 studies, found support for nature-based interventions to improve mental wellbeing in general populations.

There was some variation in what was included in these interventions, with interventions often including aspects of other interventions such as physical activity or mindfulness. Currently, we do not have enough information to provide guidance on who benefits most from nature-based interventions

# Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes. However, greenspace interventions showed the most promising evidence.

# Are there any risks?

None are known.

# **Recommendation**

Nature-based interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing. More clarity on the definition of a nature-based intervention would help with better understanding its effects

See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

# **Pro-social interventions**

# **Evidence rating**



General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Pro-social interventions include any interventions that encourage people to take voluntary action that benefits others, including volunteering.

A type of positive psychological intervention (PPI) called 'Acts of kindness' (page 28) could be classified as a pro-social intervention.

# How is it meant to work?

Pro-social interventions aim to inspire positive emotions while people are helping others.

# Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Two narrative reviews, ranging from 3 to 15 studies, found mixed results on the effectiveness of pro-social interventions on mental wellbeing.

One review found that higher-quality studies support the effect of pro-social interventions on mental wellbeing. As a result, the evidence was graded as promising.

Currently, we do not have enough information to provide guidance on who benefits most from pro-social interventions.

# Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes.

# Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Pro-social interventions may be effective at improving mental wellbeing but more evidence is recommended.

See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

# **Social support interventions**

# **Evidence rating**



General Populations



Clinical Populations



#### What is it?

Social support interventions are designed to improve social connections and relationships by providing additional support from existing social networks or simply connecting people with new social resources.

### How is it meant to work?

Social support interventions help people to build and maintain positive relationships with others.

These interventions may involve learning new communication skills, developing a support network or engaging in activities that promote social interaction (see social prescribing interventions on page 40).

# Does it work to improve mental wellbeing?

Two meta-analyses and 2 narrative reviews found that interventions that enhance social support can be effective at improving mental wellbeing. However, there was some variability in the findings. There is evidence that social support interventions are effective for older adults.

# Does the evidence provide guidance on implementation?

The research did not uncover any guidance on implementation that could lead to improved mental wellbeing outcomes. However, most social support programs are offered over a longer period of time and generally in group settings.

# Are there any risks?

None are known.

#### Recommendation

Social support interventions may be effective at improving mental wellbeing in the general population. However, more information is needed to be certain of the effect.

See also <u>A guide to what works for depression</u> and <u>A guide to what works for anxiety</u>, in Beyond Blue's resource library online.

# What influences the effectiveness of mental wellbeing interventions?

The way interventions are designed, the settings and formats they are delivered in, and the types of people who receive them influence their effectiveness.

The evidence is not yet mature enough for us to provide recommendations on how these factors influence each individual intervention. However, by combining the results from reviews that provided more in-depth analysis, together with insights from the authors, some clear recommendations can be provided for common factors that influence intervention effectiveness.

# How interventions are delivered

Interventions can be delivered in various ways - for example, in groups, face-to-face or online - which leads to important considerations when choosing to roll out an intervention, including implementation costs, relevance for the target population and logistic feasibility.

# **Individual interventions**

#### What is it?

Studies where one person receives the intervention, either one-to-one or self-quided.

# What do we know?

Reviews generally showed that individualfocused interventions are effective. Oneon-one, higher intensity interventions are generally more effective than self-directed interventions.

# **Group interventions**

#### What is it?

Studies where people receive an intervention as part of a group of 2 or more people.

### What do we know?

Group-based formats are found to be effective to deliver interventions to improve mental wellbeing in people not experiencing a mental health condition (general populations). Examples include positive psychological interventions (PPIs) and reminiscence interventions.

### **Technology interventions**

### What is it?

Studies that use websites, apps or digital software to deliver interventions.

# What do we know?

Although they are on average found to be effective, the effects currently tend to be smaller for digital interventions compared to more intensive in-person interventions.

# Intensity of the intervention

Program intensity is directly related to the amount of effort required of participants.

Just like our physical health, we know that generally, greater duration, frequency, and quality of an intervention will deliver stronger benefits over a longer period of time (compared to, for example, a single, brief intervention).

Classifications of intensity differ across reviews, making it difficult to make clear recommendations.

# References

# Factors that influence mental health outcomes

Green, H., Fernandez, R., & MacPhail, C. (2022). Wellbeing and social determinants of health among Australian adults: A national cross-sectional study. Health & Social Care in the Community, 30(6), e4345-e4354. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.13827

Park, G. R., & Kim, J. (2023). Cumulative exposure to poor housing conditions and psychological wellbeing: Does the relationship differ for young and middle-aged adults and older adults? Aging & Mental Health, 27(8), 1584–1591. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2022.2102145">https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2022.2102145</a>

Cummins, R. A. (2012). Safety and subjective well-being: A perspective from the Australian unity well-being index. In D. Webb & E. Wills-Herrera (Eds.), Subjective well-being and security. New York: Springer. Social Indicators Research Series, 46.

Walker, L., Verins, I., Moodie, R., & Webster, K. (2005). Responding to the social and economic determinants of mental health. In H. Herrman, S. Saxena, & R. Moodie (Eds.), Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, Emerging Evidence, Practice. Geneva: World Health Organisation.

Scott, A. J., Webb, T. L., Martyn-St James, M., Rowse, G., & Weich, S. (2021). Improving sleep quality leads to better mental health: A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Sleep medicine reviews, 60, 101556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2021.101556

Marquez, D. X., Aguinaga, S., Vasquez, P. M., Conroy, D. E., Erickson, K. I., Hillman, C., Stillman, C. M., Ballard, R. M., Sheppard, B. B., Petruzzello, S. J., King, A. C., & Powell, K. E. (2020). A systematic review of physical activity and quality of life and well-being. Translational Behavioral Medicine, 10(5), 1098-1109. https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ibz198

Hill, P. L., Burrow, A. L., Brandenberger, J. W., Lapsley, D. K., & Quaranto, J. C. (2018). Sense of purpose moderates the associations between daily stressors and daily well-being. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 52(8), 724-729. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kax039

Modini, M., Joyce, S., Mykletun, A., Christensen, H., Bryant, R. A., Mitchell, P. B., & Harvey, S. B. (2016). The mental health benefits of employment: Results of a systematic meta-review. Australasian Psychiatry, 24(4), 331-336. doi:10.1177/1039856215618523

Aldridge, J. M., & McChesney, K. (2018). The relationships between school climate and adolescent mental health and wellbeing: A systematic literature review. International Journal of Educational Research, 88, 121145. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2018.01.01

Navarro-Carrillo, G., Alonso-Ferres, M., Moya, M., & Valor-Segura, I. (2020). Socioeconomic Status and Psychological Well-Being: Revisiting the Role of Subjective Socioeconomic Status. Frontiers in Psychology, 11. <a href="http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01303">http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01303</a>

# Mental wellbeing and mental health conditions

lasiello, M., van Agteren, J., & Muir-Cochrane, E. (2020). Mental Health and/or Mental Illness: A Scoping Review of the Evidence and Implications of the Dual-Continua Model of Mental Health. Evidence Base, (1). https://doi.org/10.21307/eb-2020-001

Keyes C.L.M. (2002). The mental health continuum: from languishing to flourishing in life. Journal of Health and Social Behaviour, 43, 207–222. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12096700/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12096700/</a>

World Health Organisation (2022). Mental health. Accessed 30 August 2023, <a href="https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response">https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response</a>

Michaelson, J., Mahony, S., & Schifferes, J. (2012). Measuring Well-being. A guide for practitioners. London: New Economics Foundation, <a href="https://neweconomics.org/uploads/files/measuring-wellbeing.pdf">https://neweconomics.org/uploads/files/measuring-wellbeing.pdf</a>

Prevention United (2023). Mental health vs mental illness. Access 10 October 2023, <a href="https://preventionunited.org.au/how-prevention-works/mental-health-versus-mental-illness/">https://preventionunited.org.au/how-prevention-works/mental-health-versus-mental-illness/</a>

# Social prescribing interventions

Bild, E., & Pachana, N. A. (2022). Social prescribing: A narrative review of how community engagement can improve wellbeing in later life. Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 32(6), 1148-1215. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2631">https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2631</a>

Blodgett, J. M., Birch, J. M., Musella, M., Harkness, F., & Kaushal, A. (2022). What Works to Improve Wellbeing? A Rapid Systematic Review of 223 Interventions Evaluated with the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scales. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(23). https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315845

Forsman, A. K., Nordmyr, J., Matosevic, T., Park, A. L., Wahlbeck, K., & McDaid, D. (2018). Promoting mental wellbeing among older people: technology-based interventions. Health Promotion International, 33(6), 1042-1054.

Pescheny, J. V., Randhawa, G., & Pappas, Y. (2020). The impact of social prescribing services on service users: A systematic review of the evidence. European Journal of Public Health, 30(4), 664-673. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckz078">https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckz078</a>

Thomas, G., Lynch, M., & Spencer, L. H. (2021). A Systematic Review to Examine the Evidence in Developing Social Prescribing Interventions That Apply a Co-Productive, Co-Designed Approach to Improve Well-Being Outcomes in a Community Setting. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(8). https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18083896

Vidovic, D., Reinhardt, G. Y., & Hammerton, C. (2021). Can Social Prescribing Foster Individual and Community Well-Being? A Systematic Review of the Evidence. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(10). <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18105276">https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18105276</a>

# **Physical activity interventions**

Blodgett, J. M., Birch, J. M., Musella, M., Harkness, F., & Kaushal, A. (2022). What Works to Improve Wellbeing? A Rapid Systematic Review of 223 Interventions Evaluated with the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scales. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(23). https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315845

Caddick, N., & Smith, B. (2014). The impact of sport and physical activity on the well-being of combat veterans: A systematic review. Psychology of Sport & Exercise, 15(1), 9-18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.09.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.09.011</a>

Elkington, T. J., Cassar, S., Nelson, A. R., & Levinger, I. (2017). Psychological Responses to Acute Aerobic, Resistance, or Combined Exercise in Healthy and Overweight Individuals: A Systematic Review. Clinical Medicine Insights: Cardiology, 11, 1-23. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1179546817701725">https://doi.org/10.1177/1179546817701725</a>

Giebel, C., Shrestha, N., Reilly, S., White, R. G., Zuluaga, M. I., Saldarriaga, G., . . . Gabbay, M. (2022). Community-based mental health and well-being interventions for older adults in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Geriatrics, 22(1), 773. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12877-022-03453-1">https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12877-022-03453-1</a>

Kelley, C., Mack, D. E., & Wilson, P. M. (2022). Does Physical Activity in Natural Outdoor Environments Improve Wellbeing? A Meta-Analysis [Review]. Sports, 10(7), Article 103. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/sports10070103">https://doi.org/10.3390/sports10070103</a>

Martland, R., Korman, N., Firth, J., Vancampfort, D., Thompson, T., & Stubbs, B. (2022). Can high-intensity interval training improve mental health outcomes in the general population and those with physical illnesses? A systematic review and meta-analysis. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 56(5), 279-291. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2021-103984

Marquez, D. X., Aguinaga, S., Vasquez, P. M., Conroy, D. E., Erickson, K. I., Hillman, C., Stillman, C. M., Ballard, R. M., Sheppard, B. B., Petruzzello, S. J., King, A. C., & Powell, K. E. (2020). A systematic review of physical activity and quality of life and well-being. Translational Behavioral Medicine, 10(5), 1098-1109. https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ibz198

Netz, Y., Wu, M. J., Becker, B. J., & Tenenbaum, G. (2005). Physical activity and psychological well-being in advanced age: a meta-analysis of intervention studies. Psychology and Aging, 20(2), 272-284. <a href="http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb">http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb</a>

# **Nutrition and diet interventions**

Guzek, D., Kolota, A., Lachowicz, K., Skolmowska, D., Stachon, M., & Glabska, D. (2021). Association between Vitamin D Supplementation and Mental Health in Healthy Adults: A Systematic Review. Journal of Clinical Medicine, 10(21). <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/jcm10215156">https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/jcm10215156</a>

Tuck, N. J., Farrow, C., & Thomas, J. M. (2019). Assessing the effects of vegetable consumption on the psychological health of healthy adults: a systematic review of prospective research. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 110(1), 196-211. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqz080">https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqz080</a>

# **Art interventions**

Blodgett, J. M., Birch, J. M., Musella, M., Harkness, F., & Kaushal, A. (2022). What Works to Improve Wellbeing? A Rapid Systematic Review of 223 Interventions Evaluated with the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scales. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(23). https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315845

Curtis, A., Gibson, L., O'Brien, M., & Roe, B. (2018). Systematic review of the impact of arts for health activities on health, wellbeing and quality of life of older people living in care homes. Dementia (London, England), 17(6), 645-669. https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1471301217740960

Durocher, E., Njelesani, J., & Crosby, E. (2022). Art Activities in Long-Term Care: A Scoping Review. Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 89(1), 36-43. doi:10.1177/00084174211064497

Letrondo, P. A., Ashley, S. A., Flinn, A., Burton, A., Kador, T., & Mukadam, N. (2023). Systematic review of arts and culture-based interventions for people living with dementia and their caregivers. Ageing Research Reviews, 83, 101793. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2022.101793">https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2022.101793</a>

O'Donnell, S., Lohan, M., Oliffe, J. L., Grant, D., & Galway, K. (2022). The acceptability, effectiveness and gender responsiveness of participatory arts interventions in promoting mental health and wellbeing: A systematic review [Art & Music & Movement Therapy 3357]. Arts & Health: An International Journal of Research, Policy and Practice, 14(2), 186-203. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2021.1894463

Shim, Y., Jebb, A. T., Tay, L., & Pawelski, J. O. (2021). Arts and humanities interventions for flourishing in healthy adults: A mixed studies systematic review [Social Psychology 3000]. Review of General Psychology, 25(3), 258-282. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/10892680211021350">https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/10892680211021350</a>

# Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT)

Howell, A. J., & Passmore, H. A. (2019). Acceptance and commitment training (ACT) as a positive psychological intervention: A systematic review and initial meta-analysis regarding ACT's role in well-being promotion among university students [Promotion & Maintenance of Health & Wellness 3365]. Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being, 20(6), 1995-2010. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-018-0027-7

Kraiss, J., Redelinghuys, K., & Weiss, L. A. (2022). The effects of psychological interventions on well-being measured with the mental health continuum: A meta-analysis [Promotion & Maintenance of Health & Wellness 3365]. Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-022-00545-y

Linardon, J., Cuijpers, P., Carlbring, P., Messer, M., & Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M. (2019). The efficacy of app-supported smartphone interventions for mental health problems: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. World psychiatry: Official Journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA), 18(3), 325-336. https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/wps.20673

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w

Unruh, I., Neubert, M., Wilhelm, M., & Euteneuer, F. (2022). ACT in the workplace: A meta-analytic examination of randomised controlled trials. Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science, 26, 114-124. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2022.09.003">https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2022.09.003</a>

# Life coaching interventions

Dierendonck, D., & Lam, H. (2022). Interventions to enhance eudaemonic psychological wellbeing: A meta-analytic review with ryff's scales of psychological well-being [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398">https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398</a>

# Cognitive therapy (CT) and cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)

Blodgett, J. M., Birch, J. M., Musella, M., Harkness, F., & Kaushal, A. (2022). What Works to Improve Wellbeing? A Rapid Systematic Review of 223 Interventions Evaluated with the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scales. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(23). https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315845

Carr, A., Cullen, K., Keeney, C., Canning, C., Mooney, O., Chinseallaigh, E., & O'Dowd, A. (2021). Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Positive Psychology, 16(6), 749-769. doi:10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807

Linardon, J., Cuijpers, P., Carlbring, P., Messer, M., & Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M. (2019). The efficacy of app-supported smartphone interventions for mental health problems: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. World psychiatry: Official Journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA), 18(3), 325-336. https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/wps.20673

da Silva, T. B. L., dos Santos, G., Moreira, A. P. B., Ishibashi, G. A., Verga, C. E. R., de Moraes, L. C., Lessa, P. P., Cardoso, N. P., Ordonez, T. N., & Brucki, S. M. D. (2021). Cognitive interventions in mature and older adults, benefits for psychological well-being and quality of life: A systematic review study [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Dementia & Neuropsychologia, 15(4), 428-439. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=psyc18&NEWS=N&AN=2022-73349-002

Dierendonck, D., & Lam, H. (2022). Interventions to enhance eudaemonic psychological wellbeing: A meta-analytic review with ryff's scales of psychological well-being [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398">https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398</a>

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w

# **Compassion interventions**

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w

# **Expressive writing interventions**

Dierendonck, D., & Lam, H. (2022). Interventions to enhance eudaemonic psychological wellbeing: A meta-analytic review with ryff's scales of psychological well-being [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398">https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398</a>

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w</a>

# Forgiveness therapy

Akhtar, S., & Barlow, J. (2018). Forgiveness Therapy for the Promotion of Mental Well-Being: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 19(1), 107-122. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1524838016637079">https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1524838016637079</a>

Carr, A., Cullen, K., Keeney, C., Canning, C., Mooney, O., Chinseallaigh, E., & O'Dowd, A. (2020). Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis [General Psychology 2100]. The Journal of Positive Psychology. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807">https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807</a>

# **Mindfulness interventions**

Aghaie, E., Roshan, R., Mohamadkhani, P., Shaeeri, M., & Gholami-Fesharaki, M. (2018). Well-being, mental health, general health and quality of life improvement through mindfulness-based interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis [Review]. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal, 20(3), Article e16231. https://doi.org/10.5812/ircmj.16231

Bartlett, L., Martin, A., Neil, A. L., Memish, K., Otahal, P., Kilpatrick, M., & Sanderson, K. (2019). A systematic review and meta-analysis of workplace mindfulness training randomised controlled trials [Industrial & Organisational Psychology 3600]. Special Issue: Interventions in Occupational Health Psychology, 24(1), 108-126. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000146

Basurrah, A. A., Di Blasi, Z., Lambert, L., Murphy, M., Warren, M. A., Setti, A., Al-Haj Baddar, M., & Shrestha, T. (2022). The effects of positive psychology interventions in Arab countries: A systematic review [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12391

Blodgett, J. M., Birch, J. M., Musella, M., Harkness, F., & Kaushal, A. (2022). What Works to Improve Wellbeing? A Rapid Systematic Review of 223 Interventions Evaluated with the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scales. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(23). https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315845

Cheng, F. K. (2016). Is meditation conducive to mental well-being for adolescents? An integrative review for mental health nursing [Review]. International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences, 4, 7-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijans.2016.01.001

Cilar, L., Stiglic, G., Kmetec, S., Barr, O., & Pajnkihar, M. (2020). Effectiveness of school-based mental wellbeing interventions among adolescents: A systematic review [Curriculum & Programs & Teaching Methods 3530]. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 76(8), 2023-2045. https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jan.14408

Corbett, L., Bauman, A., Peralta, L. R., Okely, A. D., & Phongsavan, P. (2022). Characteristics and effectiveness of physical activity, nutrition and/or sleep interventions to improve the mental well-being of teachers: A scoping review. Health Education Journal, 81(2), 196-210. doi:10.1177/00178969211062701

Dawson, A. F., Brown, W. W., Anderson, J., Datta, B., Donald, J. N., Hong, K., . . . Galante, J. (2020). Mindfulness-based interventions for university students: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being, 12(2), 384-410. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12188">https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12188</a>

Dierendonck, D., & Lam, H. (2022). Interventions to enhance eudaemonic psychological wellbeing: A meta-analytic review with ryff's scales of psychological well-being [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398">https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398</a>

Gal, E., Stefan, S., & Cristea, I. A. (2021). The efficacy of mindfulness meditation apps in enhancing users' well-being and mental health related outcomes: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Journal of Affective Disorders, 279, 131-142. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.134">https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.134</a>

Gu, X., Luo, W., Zhao, X., Chen, Y., Zheng, Y., Zhou, J., . . . Li, R. (2022). The effects of loving-kindness and compassion meditation on life satisfaction: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being, 14(3), 1081-1101. https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12367

Goyal, M., Singh, S., Sibinga, E. M. S., Gould, N. F., Rowland-Seymour, A., Sharma, R., . . . Haythornthwaite, J. A. (2014). Meditation programs for psychological stress and well-being: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Internal Medicine, 174(3), 357-368. Doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.13018

Hartley, M., Dorstyn, D., & Due, C. (2019). Mindfulness for children and adults with autism spectrum disorder and their caregivers: A meta-analysis [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 49(10), 4306-4319. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04145-3 (Journal of Autism & Childhood Schizophrenia)

Hendriks, T., de Jong, J., & Cramer, H. (2017). The effects of yoga on positive mental health among healthy adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine, 23(7), 505-517. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1089/acm.2016.0334">https://dx.doi.org/10.1089/acm.2016.0334</a>

Jimenez, O., Ramos, N. S., Gonzalez-Moraleda, A., & Resurreccion, D. M. (2020). Brief mindfulness-based interventions in a laboratory context: A systematic review of randomised controlled trials [Psychotherapy & Psychotherapeutic Counselling 3310]. Mindfulness, 11(4), 849-861. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-020-01320-x

Kang, M. J., & Myung, S. K. (2022). Effects of mindfulness-based interventions on mental health in nurses: A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Issues in Mental Health Nursing, 43(1), 51-59. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01612840.2021.1949765

Kraiss, J., Redelinghuys, K., & Weiss, L. A. (2022). The effects of psychological interventions on well-being measured with the mental health continuum: A meta-analysis [Promotion & Maintenance of Health & Wellness 3365]. Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-022-00545-y

Lai, S.-T., Lim, K. S., Low, W. Y., & Tang, V. (2019). Positive psychological interventions for neurological disorders: A systematic review. The Clinical Neuropsychologist, 33(3), 490-518. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2018.1489562

Lomas, T., Medina, J. C., Ivtzan, I., Rupprecht, S., & Eiroa-Orosa, F. J. (2019). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of mindfulness-based interventions on the well-being of healthcare professionals [Promotion & Maintenance of Health & Wellness 3365]. Mindfulness, 10(7), 1193-1216. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-1062-5

Lomas, T., Medina, J. C., Ivtzan, I., Rupprecht, S., & Eiroa-Orosa, F. J. (2019). Mindfulness-based interventions in the workplace: An inclusive systematic review and meta-analysis of their impact upon wellbeing [Psychotherapy & Psychotherapeutic Counseling 3310]. The Journal of Positive Psychology, 14(5), 625-640. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2 018.1519588

Lomas, T., Medina, J. C., Ivtzan, I., Rupprecht, S., & Eiroa-Orosa, F. J. (2017). The impact of mindfulness on the wellbeing and performance of educators: A systematic review of the empirical literature [Educational Administration & Personnel 3510]. Teaching and Teacher Education, 61, 132-141. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.10.008

Massey, C. N., Feig, E. H., Duque-Serrano, L., Wexler, D., Moskowitz, J. T., & Huffman, J. C. (2019). Wellbeing interventions for individuals with diabetes: A systematic review. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice, 147, 118-133. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.11.014">https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.11.014</a>

Matis, J., Svetlak, M., Slezackova, A., Svoboda, M., & Sumec, R. (2020). Mindfulness-based programs for patients with cancer via eHealth and mobile health: Systematic review and synthesis of quantitative research. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22(11). https://dx.doi.org/10.2196/20709

Perkins, N., Sehmbi, T., & Smith, P. (2022). Effects of kindness- and compassion-based meditation on wellbeing, prosociality, and cognitive functioning in children and adolescents: A systematic review. Mindfulness. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-022-01925-4">https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-022-01925-4</a>

Petcharat, M., & Liehr, P. (2017). Mindfulness training for parents of children with special needs: Guidance for nurses in mental health practice. Journal of Child & Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing, 30(1), 35-46. doi:10.1111/jcap.12169

Phan, M. L., Renshaw, T. L., Caramanico, J., Greeson, J. M., MacKenzie, E., Atkinson-Diaz, Z., Doppelt, N., Tai, H., Mandell, D. S., & Nuske, H. J. (2022). Mindfulness-based school interventions: A systematic review of outcome evidence quality by study design [Curriculum & Programs & Teaching Methods 3530]. Mindfulness, 13(7), 1591-1613. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-022-01885-9">https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12671-022-01885-9</a>

Querstret, D., Morison, L., Dickinson, S., Cropley, M., & John, M. (2020). Mindfulness-based stress reduction and mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for psychological health and well-being in nonclinical samples: A systematic review and meta-analysis [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. International Journal of Stress Management, 27(4), 394-411. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/str0000165

Sinclair, S., Kondejewski, J., Raffin-Bouchal, S., King-Shier, K. M., & Singh, P. (2017). Can self-compassion promote healthcare provider well-being and compassionate care to others? Results of a systematic review [Health & Mental Health Services 3370]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being, 9(2), 168-206. https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12086

Taylor, H., Strauss, C., & Cavanagh, K. (2021). Can a little bit of mindfulness do you good? A systematic review and meta-analyses of unguided mindfulness-based self-help interventions [Cognitive Therapy 3311]. Clinical Psychology Review, 89. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102078">https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102078</a>

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w</a>

# Positive psychological interventions (PPIs): multi-component

Allen, J. G., Romate, J., & Rajkumar, E. (2021). Mindfulness-based positive psychology interventions: a systematic review. BMC Psychology, 9(1), 116. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40359-021-00618-2">https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40359-021-00618-2</a>

Basurrah, A. A., Di Blasi, Z., Lambert, L., Murphy, M., Warren, M. A., Setti, A., Al-Haj Baddar, M., & Shrestha, T. (2022). The effects of positive psychology interventions in Arab countries: A systematic review [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12391

Carr, A., Cullen, K., Keeney, C., Canning, C., Mooney, O., Chinseallaigh, E., & O'Dowd, A. (2020). Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis [General Psychology 2100]. The Journal of Positive Psychology. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807">https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807</a>

Chakhssi, F., Kraiss, J. T., Sommers-Spijkerman, M., & Bohlmeijer, E. T. (2018). The effect of positive psychology interventions on well-being and distress in clinical samples with psychiatric or somatic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Psychiatry, 18(1), 211. https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1739-2

Conradson, H. E., Hayden, K. A., Russell-Mayhew, S., Raffin Bouchal, S., & King-Shier, K. (2022). Positive psychological well-being in women with obesity: A scoping review of qualitative and quantitative primary research. Obesity Science and Practice, 8(6), 691-714. doi:10.1002/osp4.605

Dierendonck, D., & Lam, H. (2022). Interventions to enhance eudaemonic psychological wellbeing: A meta-analytic review with ryff's scales of psychological well-being [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398">https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398</a>

Donaldson, S. I., Cabrera, V., & Gaffaney, J. (2021). Following the science to generate well-being: Using the highest-quality experimental evidence to design interventions [Health Psychology & Medicine 3360]. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.739352">https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.739352</a>

Hendriks, T., Schotanus-Dijkstra, M., Hassankhan, A., de Jong, J., & Bohlmeijer, E. (2020). The efficacy of multi-component positive psychology interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials [Promotion & Maintenance of Health & Wellness 3365]. Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being, 21(1), 357-390. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-019-00082-1

Hobbs, C., Armitage, J., Hood, B., & Jelbert, S. (2022). A systematic review of the effect of university positive psychology courses on student psychological wellbeing [Review]. Frontiers in Psychology, 13, Article 1023140. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1023140

Kraiss, J., Redelinghuys, K., & Weiss, L. A. (2022). The effects of psychological interventions on well-being measured with the Mental Health Continuum: a meta-analysis [Review]. Journal of Happiness Studies, 23(7), 3655-3689. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-022-00545-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-022-00545-y</a>

McTiernan, K., Gullon-Scott, F., & Dudley, R. (2022). Do Positive Psychology Interventions Impact on the Subjective Wellbeing and Depression of Clients? A Systematic Methodological Review. Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy, 52(1), 1-13. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10879-021-09522-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10879-021-09522-7</a>

Mendes de Oliveira, C., Santos Almeida, C. R., & Hofheinz Giacomoni, C. (2022). School-Based Positive Psychology Interventions that Promote Well-Being in Children: A Systematic Review [Review]. Child Indicators Research, 15(5), 1583-1600. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-022-09935-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-022-09935-3</a>

Meyers, M. C., van Woerkom, M., & Bakker, A. B. (2013). The added value of the positive: A literature review of positive psychology interventions in organisations [Working Conditions & Industrial Safety 3670]. European Journal of Work and Organisational Psychology, 22(5), 618-632. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2012.694689

Pina de Almeida, I. F., Braga, C. M., de Oliveira, T. F. R., de Santana, C. N., Marques, R. C., & Machado, L. (2021). Positive psychology interventions to improve well-being and symptoms in people on the schizophrenia spectrum: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry, 43(4), 430-437. doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2020-1164

Sin, N. L., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2009). Enhancing well-being and alleviating depressive symptoms with positive psychology interventions: A practice-friendly meta-analysis [Affective Disorders 3211]. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 65(5), 467-487. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20593">https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20593</a> (In Session: Psychotherapy in Practice)

Tejada-Gallardo, C., Blasco-Belled, A., Torrelles-Nadal, C., & Alsinet, C. (2020). Effects of School-based Multicomponent Positive Psychology Interventions on Well-being and Distress in Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Journal of Youth & Adolescence, 49(10), 1943-1960. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-020-01289-9">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-020-01289-9</a>

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w</a>

# Positive psychological interventions (PPIs): single

#### **Acts of kindness**

Carr, A., Cullen, K., Keeney, C., Canning, C., Mooney, O., Chinseallaigh, E., & O'Dowd, A. (2020). Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis [General Psychology 2100]. The Journal of Positive Psychology. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807">https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807</a>

Curry, O. S., Rowland, L. A., Van Lissa, C. J., Zlotowitz, S., McAlaney, J., & Whitehouse, H. (2018). Happy to help? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of performing acts of kindness on the well-being of the actor [Article]. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 76, 320-329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2018.02.014

# Best possible self

Carrillo, A., Rubio-Aparicio, M., Molinari, G., Enrique, A., Sanchez-Meca, J., & Banos, R. M. (2019). Effects of the Best Possible Self intervention: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS ONE, 14(9). <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222386">https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222386</a>

Loveday, P. M., Lovell, G. P., & Jones, C. M. (2018). The best possible selves intervention: A review of the literature to evaluate efficacy and guide future research [Psychotherapy & Psychotherapeutic Counselling 3310]. Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being, 19(2), 607-628. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-016-9824-z">https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-016-9824-z</a>

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w</a>

# **Character strength**

Carr, A., Cullen, K., Keeney, C., Canning, C., Mooney, O., Chinseallaigh, E., & O'Dowd, A. (2020). Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis [General Psychology 2100]. The Journal of Positive Psychology. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807">https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807</a>

Ghielen, S. T. S., van Woerkom, M., & Christina Meyers, M. (2018). Promoting positive outcomes through strengths interventions: A literature review. Journal of Positive Psychology, 13(6), 573-585. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2017.1365164">https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2017.1365164</a>

Schutte, N. S., & Malouff, J. M. (2019). The impact of signature character strengths interventions: A meta-analysis [Social Psychology 3000]. Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being, 20(4), 1179-1196. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-018-9990-2">https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-018-9990-2</a>

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w</a>

Yan, T., Chan, C. W. H., Chow, K. M., Zheng, W., & Sun, M. (2020). A systematic review of the effects of character strengths-based intervention on the psychological well-being of patients suffering from chronic illnesses. Journal of Advanced Nursing (John Wiley & Sons, Inc.), 76(7), 1567-1580. doi:10.1111/jan.14356

#### **Gratitude**

Carr, A., Cullen, K., Keeney, C., Canning, C., Mooney, O., Chinseallaigh, E., & O'Dowd, A. (2020). Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis [General Psychology 2100]. The Journal of Positive Psychology. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807">https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807</a>

Davis, D. E., Choe, E., Meyers, J., Varjas, K., Gifford, A., Quinn, A., Van Tongeren, D. R., Wade, N., Hook, J. N., Griffin, B. J., & Worthington Jr, E. L. (2016). Thankful for the Little Things: A Meta-Analysis of Gratitude Interventions. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 63(1), 20-31. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000107

Dickens, L. R. (2017). Using gratitude to promote positive change: A series of meta-analyses investigating the effectiveness of gratitude interventions [Personality Traits & Processes 3120]. Basic and Applied Social Psychology, 39(4), 193-208. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2017.1323638

Komase, Y., Watanabe, K., Hori, D., Nozawa, K., Hidaka, Y., Iida, M., Imamura, K., & Kawakami, N. (2021). Effects of gratitude intervention on mental health and well-being among workers: A systematic review. Journal of Occupational Health, 63(1), e12290. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/1348-9585.12290">https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/1348-9585.12290</a>

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w</a>

## **Humour**

Carr, A., Cullen, K., Keeney, C., Canning, C., Mooney, O., Chinseallaigh, E., & O'Dowd, A. (2020). Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis [General Psychology 2100]. The Journal of Positive Psychology. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807">https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807</a>

#### **Pleasure**

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w</a>

# Three good things

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w</a>

# Psycho-educational interventions

Blodgett, J. M., Birch, J. M., Musella, M., Harkness, F., & Kaushal, A. (2022). What Works to Improve Wellbeing? A Rapid Systematic Review of 223 Interventions Evaluated with the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scales. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(23). https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315845

Brann, K. L., Baker, D., Smith-Millman, M. K., Watt, S. J., & DiOrio, C. (2021). A meta-analysis of suicide prevention programs for school-aged youth. Children & Youth Services Review, 121. doi:10.1016/j. childyouth.2020.105826

Breslin, G., Shannon, S., Cummings, M., & Leavey, G. (2022). An updated systematic review of interventions to increase awareness of mental health and well-being in athletes, coaches, officials and parents [Review]. Systematic Reviews, 11(1), Article 99. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-022-01932-5">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-022-01932-5</a>

Martínez-García, A. (2022). Contributions of universal school-based mental health promotion to the wellbeing of adolescents and preadolescents: a systematic review of educational interventions. Health Education (0965-4283), 122(5), 564-583. doi:10.1108/HE-07-2021-0106

Panzeri, A., Rossi Ferrario, S., & Vidotto, G. (2019). Interventions for psychological health of stroke caregivers: A systematic review. Frontiers in Psychology, 10. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02045">https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02045</a>

# **Reminiscence interventions**

Bohlmeijer, E., Roemer, M., Cuijpers, P., & Smit, F. (2007). The effects of reminiscence on psychological well-being in older adults: a meta-analysis. Aging & Mental Health, 11(3), 291-300. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=med6&NEWS=N&AN=17558580

Dierendonck, D., & Lam, H. (2022). Interventions to enhance eudaemonic psychological wellbeing: A meta-analytic review with ryff's scales of psychological well-being [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. <a href="https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398">https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398</a>

Forsman, A. K., Nordmyr, J., & Wahlbeck, K. (2011). Psychosocial interventions for the promotion of mental health and the prevention of depression among older adults. Health Promotion International, 26(suppl\_1), i85-i107. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dar074">https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dar074</a>

Giebel, C., Shrestha, N., Reilly, S., White, R. G., Zuluaga, M. I., Saldarriaga, G., . . . Gabbay, M. (2022). Community-based mental health and well-being interventions for older adults in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Geriatrics, 22(1), 773. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12877-022-03453-1

Ismail, S. U., Cheston, R., Christopher, G., & Meyrick, J. (2020). Nostalgia as a psychological resource for people with dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis of evidence of effectiveness from experimental studies [Behavioral & Psychological Treatment of Physical Illness 3361]. Dementia: The International Journal of Social Research and Practice, 19(2), 330-351. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1471301218774909

Kraiss, J., Redelinghuys, K., & Weiss, L. A. (2022). The effects of psychological interventions on well-being measured with the mental health continuum: A meta-analysis. Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10902-022-00545-y

Lan, X., Xiao, H., & Chen, Y. (2017). Effects of life review interventions on psychosocial outcomes among older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Geriatrics & Gerontology International, 17(10), 1344-1357. https://doi.org/10.1111/ggi.12947

Lin, Y., Dai, Y., & Hwang, S. (2003). The effect of reminiscence on the elderly population: a systematic review. Public Health Nursing, 20(4), 297-306. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1446.2003.20407.x">https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1446.2003.20407.x</a>

Menn, L., Corsten, S., Lauer, N., & Wallace, S. J. (2020). The Effectiveness of Biographical Approaches in Long-Term Care: A Systematic Review. Gerontologist, 60(4), e309-e328. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnz074">https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnz074</a>

Saragih, I. D., Tonapa, S. I., Lin, C. J., & Lee, B. O. (2021). Effects of case management intervention for people with dementia and their carers: A systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental studies. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 121. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.104012

Steffens, N. K., LaRue, C. J., Haslam, C., Walter, Z. C., Cruwys, T., Munt, K. A., Haslam, S. A., Jetten, J., & Tarrant, M. (2021). Social identification-building interventions to improve health: A systematic review and meta-analysis [Health Psychology & Medicine 3360]. Health Psychology Review, 15(1), 85-112. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2019.1669481">https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2019.1669481</a>

Tam, W., Poon, S. N., Mahendran, R., Kua, E. H., & Wu, X. V. (2021). The effectiveness of reminiscence-based intervention on improving psychological well-being in cognitively intact older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis [Health Psychology & Medicine 3360]. International Journal of Nursing Studies, 114. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103847

van Agteren, J., Iasiello, M., Lo, L., Bartholomaeus, J., Kopsaftis, Z., Carey, M., & Kyrios, M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to improve mental wellbeing. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(5), 631-652. https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41562-021-01093-w

# **Dance interventions**

Bai, Z., Li, Y., Yang, Y., Xie, C., Zhu, Z., Xu, Y., & Bai, R. (2022). The Effectiveness of Plaza Dancing on Psychological Well-Being and III-Being: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Frontiers in Psychology, 13, 864327. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.864327

# Yoga interventions

Domingues, R. B. (2018). Modern postural yoga as a mental health promoting tool: A systematic review. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice, 31, 248-255. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2018.03.002">https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2018.03.002</a>

Corbett, L., Bauman, A., Peralta, L. R., Okely, A. D., & Phongsavan, P. (2022). Characteristics and effectiveness of physical activity, nutrition and/or sleep interventions to improve the mental well-being of teachers: A scoping review. Health Education Journal, 81(2), 196-210. doi:10.1177/00178969211062701

Hendriks, T., de Jong, J., & Cramer, H. (2017). The Effects of Yoga on Positive Mental Health Among Healthy Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine (New York, N.Y.), 23(7), 505-517. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1089/acm.2016.0334">https://dx.doi.org/10.1089/acm.2016.0334</a>

# **Gardening interventions**

Briggs, R., Morris, P. G., & Rees, K. (2022). The effectiveness of group-based gardening interventions for improving wellbeing and reducing symptoms of mental ill-health in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Mental Health (Abingdon, England), 1-18. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2">https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2</a> 022.2118687

Genter, C., Roberts, A., Richardson, J., & Sheaff, M. (2015). The contribution of allotment gardening to health and wellbeing: A systematic review of the literature [Review]. British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 78(10), 593-605. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022615599408">https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022615599408</a>

Lin, P., Morris, P. G., Ma, J., & Williams, J. M. (2022). A Systematic Review of Horticultural Therapy's Influence on Chinese Older Adults' Psychosocial Wellbeing. Gerontology & Geriatric Medicine, 8, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35958034/

Soga, M., Gaston, K. J., & Yamaura, Y. (2017). Gardening is beneficial for health: A metaanalysis. Preventive Medicine Reports, 5, 92-99. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=pmnm4&NEWS=N&AN=27981022

# **Leisure-based interventions**

Kuykendall, L., Tay, L., & Ng, V. (2015). Leisure engagement and subjective well-being: A meta-analysis [Recreation & Leisure 3740]. Psychological Bulletin, 141(2), 364-403. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0038508

# **Nature-based interventions**

Britton, E., Kindermann, G., Domegan, C., & Carlin, C. (2020). Blue care: A systematic review of blue space interventions for health and wellbeing [Promotion & Maintenance of Health & Wellness 3365]. Health Promotion International, 35(1), 50-69. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/heapro/day103">https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/heapro/day103</a>

Callaghan, A., McCombe, G., Harrold, A., McMeel, C., Mills, G., Moore-Cherry, N., & Cullen, W. (2021). The impact of green spaces on mental health in urban settings: a scoping review. Journal of Mental Health, 30(2), 179-193. doi:10.1080/09638237.2020.1755027

Gagliardi, C., & Piccinini, F. (2019). The use of nature - based activities for the well-being of older people: An integrative literature review. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 83, 315-327. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2019.05.012">https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2019.05.012</a>

Houlden, V., Weich, S., de Albuquerque, J. P., Jarvis, S., & Rees, K. (2018). The relationship between greenspace and the mental wellbeing of adults: A systematic review [Review]. PLoS ONE, 13(9), Article e0203000. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203000">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203000</a>

Meredith, G. R., Rakow, D. A., Eldermire, E. R. B., Madsen, C. G., Shelley, S. P., & Sachs, N. A. (2019). Minimum Time Dose in Nature to Positively Impact the Mental Health of College-Aged Students, and How to Measure It: A Scoping Review. Frontiers in Psychology, 10, 2942. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02942

# **Pro-social interventions**

Owen, R., Berry, K., & Brown, L. J. (2022). Enhancing older adults' well-being and quality of life through purposeful activity: A systematic review of intervention studies. The Gerontologist, 62(6), e317-e327. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnab017

# Social support interventions

Blodgett, J. M., Birch, J. M., Musella, M., Harkness, F., & Kaushal, A. (2022). What Works to Improve Wellbeing? A Rapid Systematic Review of 223 Interventions Evaluated with the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scales. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(23). https://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192315845

Dierendonck, D., & Lam, H. (2022). Interventions to enhance eudaemonic psychological wellbeing: A meta-analytic review with ryff's scales of psychological well-being [Health & Mental Health Treatment & Prevention 3300]. Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being. <a href="https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398">https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12398</a>

Garcia-Carrion, R., Villarejo-Carballido, B., & Villardon-Gallego, L. (2019). Children and adolescents mental health: A systematic review of interaction-based interventions in schools and communities [Health & Mental Health Services 3370]. Frontiers in Psychology, 10. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00918

Okun, M. A., Olding, R. W., & Cohn, C. M. (1990). A meta-analysis of subjective well-being interventions among elders. Psychological Bulletin, 108(2), 257-266. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.108.2.257

# Where to find more information

# **Beyond Blue**

# **beyondblue.org.au**

Learn more about anxiety, depression and suicide prevention, or talk through your concerns with our Support Service. Our trained mental health professionals will listen, provide information, advice and brief counselling, and point you in the right direction so you can seek further support.

# **©** 1300 22 4636

Email or chat to us online at beyondblue.org.au/getsupport

f @beyondblue

in company/beyondblue

# **Head to Health**

# National Nat

Head to Health can help you find free and low-cost, trusted online and phone mental health resources.

② Donate online: beyondblue.org.au/donations

© Beyond Blue Ltd. BL/0556 09/19

